
Annual Report

governanceconference.com.au#GOVCON2021

National
Conference

2021
Governance Institute

culture   powers    purpose

1–2 September  | Virtual

Conference program

Platinum sponsor

2021



 Page 1   |   Annual Report 2021 Governance Institute of Australia LtdGovernance Institute of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2021  |   Page B

Key metrics

4,641

Contents 
2021 year in review 2

Chair and CEO report  4

Governance and stewardship  6

The Board  8

General management team  10

The Chartered Governance Institute 11 
and Governance Institute of Australia

Strategy 2020–2025 (2021) 12

Member profiles 14

Our membership 16

Digital engagement  18

Modernisaton of education 19

Developing governance and risk management expertise 20

Leadership and influence  22

Navigating the pandemic: Thought leadership, guidance    25 
and submissions 

Employees 26

Directors’ report 28

Financial report 31

Directors’ declaration 46

Independent Auditor’s report 47

Auditor’s independence declaration 50

New members Total number of members

Number of media mentions of 
Governance Institute

Number of public policy submissionsMember retention rate

Attendees at professional 
development events

Governance Institute of Australia 
is a national membership 
association, advocating for 
a community of over 43,000 
governance and risk management 
professionals from the listed, 
unlisted and not-for profit 
sectors.

As the only Australian provider of chartered governance 
accreditation, we offer a range of short courses, certificates and 
postgraduate study. 

Our mission is to drive better governance in all organisations, 
which will in turn create a stronger, better society.

Our purpose — Strengthening society though governance 
excellence.

Our vision — Champion whole-of-organisation governance and risk 
management through education, advocacy and engagement with 
members and the broader community.
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Strategic direction and governance
Our five-year strategy (2020–2025) remains central to the 
Board’s plans moving towards 2025.

The governance review project has been a major focus at board 
level during 2021 with many milestones now achieved. The 
major items of note are changes to the constitution that allow 
for the recruitment and appointment of a paid independent 
Chair, and changes to the rules around composition and 
nominations from states where vacancies existed. Andrew 
Leake, President and Chair of Governance Institute from 
January to July 2021 skilfully oversaw these changes resulting 
in the appointment of Pauline Vamos’ appointment as President 
and Chair in July 2021. 

Building our profile
As part of our strategic objectives, we advanced our Brand 
Ambassador program by adding two new ambassadors in 
2021. Professor Michael Adams FGIA(Life) FCG and Kirsty Wright 
AGIA ACG both accepted the role this year taking the number of 
ambassadors to four.  

Our presence in the media has grown with 584 media mentions 
in 2021. We are also seeing significant growth in our email 
marketing database — which has grown to more than 43,000 
and our social media channels now include more than 27,000 
people on LinkedIn. In addition, we continue to be in high 
demand for speaking opportunities — with 36 external speaking 
engagements in 2021. 

Growth in membership
We have welcomed more than 900 new members to our 
community and now have over 8,000 members. Growing 
our membership base strengthens the governance and risk 
management community, brings new networks and connections 
to our membership and helps us maintain and build a 
sustainable organisation. This is an outstanding achievement in 
a volatile external environment.

Policy and advocacy
This year, with the assistance of our four policy committees, 
we continued working on a range of specific policy proposals 
designed to achieve three broad objectives. 

These objectives are to help ensure: 

1. Australia’s governance environment enables sustainable, 
purposeful organisations that are both profitable and 
internationally competitive.

2. Australia’s regulatory framework is clear, certain, coherent 
and fit-for-purpose

3. the competence and professionalism of Australian 
governance and risk management professionals. 

Highlights include:

• Updated guidance to assist companies hold AGMs, lodge 
documents and communicate with members under 
temporary amendments to the Corporations Act 2001.

• We led a discussion at a member roundtable on how 
businesses are grappling with challenges presented by a low 
carbon economy, and what position Governance Institute 
should take on climate change and net zero targets.

Chair and CEO report

It has been another challenging yet rewarding year for governance and risk professionals 
— with the ongoing COVID-19 crisis and lockdowns deeply affecting organisations and the 
decisions that they make. 

Pauline Vamos FGIA FCG

President and Chair of Governance 
Institute of Australia Ltd and of 
the Australian Division of The 
Chartered Governance Institute 

Megan Motto FGIA

Chief Executive of Governance 
Institute of Australia Ltd and  
of the Australian Division of The 
Chartered Governance Institute

• We continued our involvement as a member of the 
Modernising Business Communications Expert Panel. We 
also made a submission to Treasury on proposals for digital 
execution of statutory declarations and deeds. 

• Advocating for reform of fundraising laws as part of the 
#fixfundraising campaign. 

• We maintained our close interaction with ASX around the 
CHESS Replacement Project.

We have also released the following to the governance and risk 
management community: 

• Guidance — Board papers

• Future of the board report 

• Guidance — Navigating virtual AGMs 

• Board Diversity Index 

• Board and executive remuneration report (with Aon) 

• Ethics Index

Knowledge support for our members 
We continue to develop material to provide governance and risk 
management professionals with the skills and knowledge they 
need to carry out their roles. 

We continued to add technology-themed Good Governance 
Guides drilling down on the topics of digital trust, digital 
transformation and cloud services. We contributed the 
Australian sections to CGI’s publication Women in the 
Boardroom: International Governance Stocktake.

Industry-relevant events and forums 
In 2021, our events plan was built to move quickly to a virtual 
mode when and where needed.

This year we were happy to return to a face-to-face format for 
the Governance and Risk Management Forums. The NSW event 
was a hybrid format. Over 400 delegates attended the forums 
across the five cities. For many attendees this was the first 
face-to-face event they had attended in some time. Our National 
Conference also went fully virtual. We had over 900 attendees 
and over 40 international and domestic speakers. 

People and culture
During these challenging times, flexibility in how we work, 
strong communication channels and the availability of 
support initiatives have been key at Governance Institute to 
maintaining staff engagement, cohesion and wellbeing. We’ve 
placed employee wellbeing at the centre of everything we do, 
demonstrated with our clear COVID-19 response plan, national 
Employee Assistance Program and COVID-19 staff check-in survey. 

Education
To realise our aim to be the leader in governance education and 
training Governance Institute has embarked on a modernisation 
agenda that will culminate in the establishment of a Governance 
Institute Academy.

A governance capability framework will provide the structure 
for the Academy to develop richly interactive and personalised 
learning experiences for students to enhance their skills, 
capabilities and attributes for their future work and study, skills 
that will be valued and recognised.

The Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance and 
Risk Management which includes a Graduate Certificate has 
educational pathways to the designations Chartered Secretary 
and Chartered Governance Professional. It continues to be 
delivered online with further enhancements in the pipeline. 

Our focus for Certificates and short courses continued with their 
intensive update and the majority have now been redesigned in 
eLearn format, modernising the online delivery.

The Effective Director Course has been reviewed and updated 
with particular attention paid to redesigning the boardroom 
scenario to better reflect diversity in the boardroom. The pool 
of facilitators has been broadened and diversified. A women’s 
exclusive virtual version of the course has been added.

Operational excellence 
An independent IT audit resulted in enhancements to our 
three-year IT business plan to transform our technology into 
a cloud-based solution, with security being the cornerstone 
of this. Achievements this year include a new Finance system, 
CRM upgrade and we have a new navigation bar on the 
Governance Institute website. We will continue to strengthen our 
cybersecurity with independent audits and penetration testing 
now part of our governance framework. 

Financial health 
An operating deficit of $200,507 which includes the CRM write 
off for the amount of $998,324 and strata refunds for the 
Sydney office $231,166.

Our 2021 financial report is available on page 31.

Thank you 
Thank you to our members, exceptional staff and partners for 
your hard work and contribution to these achievements in such 
a difficult year.

Without your ongoing support, involvement and great passion 
for Governance Institute, we would not have such a full report to 
share with you.

Chair and CEO reportChair and CEO report

The governance review project has been a major focus at board level  
during 2021 with many milestones now achieved. 
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management and the Board. Operational performance, KPIs and 
adherence to set project timelines are monitored on a regular 
basis by the chief executive and by the Board at each of its 
meetings through the year. Key management personnel also 
present to the Board at each meeting, providing an opportunity 
for directors to question senior management directly.

Accountability
Governance Institute operates nationally and with 
representation in all states. Members of our Board are elected 
from each state, for a term of three years. 

The Board and management have a clear understanding of their 
respective roles and responsibilities. The Board’s charter is 
available on our website and may be viewed here. 

Each state council also has a clear understanding of its role in 
assisting the Board to represent the interests of the members 
in each state. The charter of the state council is regularly 
reviewed to ensure it is fit for purpose as the strategic direction 
of the organisation evolves. State councillors are integral to 
Governance Institute’s engagement with its members. They 
provide feedback and ideas to enhance our services and 
offerings and act as ambassadors and mentors within their local 
state community. 

Integrity
All members must abide by the members’ Code of Ethics 
available on our website. The incidence of disciplinary action 
taken against members is very low, highlighting how you, 
our members, embody integrity in your professional practice 
conduct. 

In addition, when engaging in Governance Institute business, 
all members and staff are required to abide by our Code of 
Conduct which can be viewed on our website here.

Each staff member has the values of the organisation 
embedded in their annual performance plan, one of which is to 
behave ethically and with integrity. 

We bring an independent mind to influencing public policy and 
other issues affecting the profession. We also promote integrity 
in our learning programs, not only via the quality of the content 
but also through procedural fairness and educational equity. Our 
academic policies are publicly available on our website and may 
be viewed here.  

Governance Institute is a not-for-profit, national membership 
association. Our mission is to drive better governance in 
organisations of all types through the provision of education, 
advocacy and thought leadership. For our own governance 
framework, and although not obliged to do so, we have regard to 
the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations (4th edition).

In 2021, a key strategic item has been our commitment to the 
implementation of our own governance review and, as has 
already been noted in the Chair and CEO report, members have 
been consulted and been involved along the way. 

Our six broad principles or governance ‘pillars’ are discussed below. 

Stewardship and financial sustainability
Governance Institute directors seek to ensure the sustainability 
of our organisation for the benefit of our stakeholders. The 
directors set the strategic direction to ensure the organisation 
remains financially strong, that membership is engaged and 
grows, and that the organisation remains relevant to members 
and customers, government, regulators, business, media and 
other key stakeholders now and into the future. 

All the major strategic decisions made by Governance Institute 
result from an ongoing strategic planning process. Each year, 
the Board holds a meeting dedicated to reviewing and focusing 
on strategy. Our strategy is documented and reported against 
at each Board meeting, enabling the Board to monitor progress 
against strategy throughout the year. Senior management and 
staff key performance indicators (KPIs) are developed to align 
with the strategy of the organisation. 

To ensure the financial health and sustainability of the organisation, 
the directors set strategies to diversify revenue streams. 

We review our education, training and professional development 
offerings in order to cater for the expanding needs of a widening 
membership. 

Membership
We report to members not only in this Annual Report, but also 
in our digital journal, Governance Directions, and in a range 
of other communications. We also regularly engage with our 
members using social media. This enables us to keep members 
fully informed and receive member feedback. 

Transparency
The strategic plan forms the basis of activities for the future but 
it also acts as the primary accountability mechanism between 

Governance and stewardship
Governance Institute’s own governance framework is modelled on that of leading listed 
companies but amended to be fit for purpose and reflective of our status as a membership 
organisation. We believe this multifaceted approach is not only appropriate to the nature of our 
organisation but ensures it can sustainably deliver value to members into the future. 

Governance and stewardshipGovernance and stewardship

Governance structure

Board of Directors

Board  
committees

Policy &  
strategy

Membership  
state councils

Professional  
development

Risk, audit 
& finance

Legislation 
review

New South 
Wales/ ACT

Education

People,  
remuneration  
& nomination

Corporate & 
legal issues

Victoria

Public sector 
governance

South Australia/
Northern Territory

Risk &  
technology

Queensland

Tasmania

Western  
Australia

Risk management
It is the responsibility of the Board, management and staff 
to continually review what Governance Institute does, to 
investigate new opportunities, and to take account of risks in 
decision-making. 

One way we do this is by applying the key learnings from our 
education, training and professional development offerings 
into our own organisation to continuously enhance our 
risk management framework and associated systems and 
processes. 

https://www.governanceinstitute.com.au/courses-events/postgraduate-study-with-governance-institute-of-australia/academic-policies/
https://www.governanceinstitute.com.au/courses-events/postgraduate-study-with-governance-institute-of-australia/academic-policies/
https://www.governanceinstitute.com.au/about-us/our-governance/constitution-charters-policies/
https://www.governanceinstitute.com.au/media/885092/gia-code-of-conduct_july-2020_final.pdf
https://www.governanceinstitute.com.au/about-us/our-governance/ethics-and-standards/
https://www.governanceinstitute.com.au/about-us/our-governance/ethics-and-standards/
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The Board

Pauline Vamos FGIA, FCG, BALLB, FASFA, GAICD 
(appointed 26.7.21)

Pauline is a non-executive director of Mercer Superannuation Australia Limited and Chief Executive 
Women. Pauline is also chair of Interaction Disability Services and the Moneytech Group. Pauline is 
recognised as an expert in governance, risk management and public policy and for taking on difficult 
issues within organisations. 

She has over 30 years’ experience in the financial services industry and has been recognised with a 
number of awards. 

Helen Hardy LLB, BCom, GradDipACG, FGIA, FCG, CA, GAICD 
(appointed 19.11.21)

Extensive experience in governance, corporate law, financial reporting and sustainability. Helen is 
company secretary of Origin Energy Ltd. She is a qualified lawyer and Chartered Accountant and has 
advised large listed companies at PwC and Freehills. Helen is a member of the Legislation Review 
Committee.

Ainslie Cunningham FGIA, FCG, MAICD, MRMIA, CPRM© 
(appointed 1.1.22)

Co-founder and director of governance consulting firm 3YS Owls. Ainslie is a qualified company 
secretary, governance and risk manager, specialising in company secretarial, corporate governance 
and risk management practices. With an extensive career across various corporate governance, 
company secretarial and risk management roles over the past 18 years with global ASX publicly listed 
companies predominantly in the resources, retail and financial services sectors, alongside her current 
appointments for unlisted and not-for-profit organisations in health, education and mining services. 
Member of the Queensland State Council and the Risk, Audit and Finance Committee.

Greg Hanigan BCom, AdvDipFS (FP), Cert Gov(Prac), FGIA, FCG, GAICD 
(appointed 3.9.21)

Over 20 years’ experience in financial services leading risk, governance and compliance. Previous 
roles held of chief risk officer and company secretary. Member of the Tasmanian State Council of 
Governance Institute of Australia. 

Caron Sugars BAccSc(Hons), Dip(Aud), CA(SA), GAICD, FGIA 
(appointed 2.9.21)

Caron is the partner in charge of KPMG Perth’s Governance, Risk and Controls division, and KPMG’s 
National Board Advisory Services.

More than 20 years’ professional experience in commerce, risk management, external and internal 
audit. Caron re-joined KPMG in 2007 after spending five years in senior finance and company secretary 
roles with one private and two listed entities. In supporting the community, in addition to her roles with 
Governance Institute, Caron is also the deputy chair of the Special Air Services Resources Trust Board.

The BoardThe Board

Andrew Leake BEc, GradDipACG, FGIA, FCG, CA, GAICD  
(appointed 1.1.16)

2021 President of the Board of Governance Institute. A senior business leader with extensive experience 
in business consulting, corporate finance, publishing, education, NFP, governance and secretarial 
practice. COO at Wenona School, a leading Sydney school for girls. Director of the Winston Churchill 
Memorial Trust and NSW Selection Chair.

Christine Manuel BMus, GradDipACG, DipCD, DipInvRel, FGIA, FCG, MAICD, MAITD, AAIPM 
(appointed 1.1.17)

Currently company secretary at Angel Seafood Holdings Limited and AML3D Ltd. Previous roles 
include company secretary of People’s Choice Credit Union and group secretariat adviser at Santos 
Ltd. International experience in project and risk management and senior corporate management roles 
providing consulting and training services in various technical disciplines in the Asia Pacific region. 
Facilitator for various Governance Institute Certificate programs and in-house training since 2012. 
Member of Governance Institute’s Legislation Review Committee.

John Mazengarb BCom, FGIA, FCG, FCA, MAICD  
(appointed 8.1.14)

Extensive management consultancy career with PricewaterhouseCoopers and IBM and senior executive 
contract positions for Tasmanian Government businesses leading major transformation programs. 
Executive director of GSD Advisors Pty Ltd; non-executive director of Mafematica Pty Ltd; independent 
member of TasBuild Ltd Investment Committee; and trustee director of MTAA Superannuation Fund 
Pty Ltd, T/A ‘Spirit Super’. Member of Tasmanian State Council since 2009 and Chair of the People, 
Renumeration and Nomination Committee.

Rachel Rees BBus, GradDipACG, MAICD, FGIA, FCG, FCA  
(appointed 8.2.13)

Rachel has extensive senior executive experience gained in multinational listed (ASX & TSX) and unlisted 
companies in highly regulated environments across diverse industries including industrial conglomerates, 
transport & logistics, mining and energy, and agriculture. She has strong financial and commercial 
acumen with specific skills in strategy, leadership, business transformation, mergers and acquisitions, 
corporate governance, risk management and stakeholder engagement. Currently non-executive director 
and chair, Audit Committee —MACA Ltd, non-executive director — Peninsula Energy Ltd and founder 
and managing director of Rees Corporate & Governance Advisory. Chair of the Risk, Audit and Finance 
Committee and member of the WA State Council.

Tim Timchur BBus, GradDipACG, FGIA, FCG, FCPA, FIML, FAMI, GIACD, CPM  
(appointed 1.1.18. Resigned 31.12.21)

Extensive experience in accounting, corporate governance, risk management and technology, in 
the corporate and NFP sectors. Currently Managing Director of 365 Architechs Pty Ltd. Facilitator 
for various Governance Institute Certificate programs since 2013. Member of the Queensland State 
Council, Risk Audit and Finance Committee, National Risk and Technology Committee, and the 
Commercial and Legal Issues Committee.

Garth Fountain-Smith LLB, GradCertLegPrac, GradDipACG, FGIA, FCG, MAICD 
(appointed 31.1.16)

Principal legal practitioner and director of Fountain-Smith Governance Lawyers Pty Ltd in Victoria. 
In-depth experience in corporations law, directors’ and officers’ duties, regulatory compliance and 
enforcement law, financial services law, commercial litigation, professional conduct matters and board 
reviews. Garth is a governance professional with extensive ASIC experience as a lawyer and manager. 
Executive management experience as director, chief operating officer and general counsel in the IT sector. 
Chair of Governance Working Group (formerly Constitution Working Committee), past member and 
deputy chair of Victoria State Council, and member of the Legislation Review Committee.
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General Management team The Chartered Governance 
Institute and Governance 
Institute of Australia Megan joined Governance Institute of Australia as chief executive in January 2019. Megan was 

previously the CEO of Consult Australia. Megan is also currently a Director of Standards Australia 
and the Committee for Economic Development of Australia (CEDA). 

Megan Motto BA/BEd, MA(Comms Mgt), FGIA, FAICD

Chief Executive

Appointed February 2022. 

David joined Governance Institute of Australia in February 2022. David brings strong commercial, 
governance and financial experience, and over 15 years of experience at a senior level in the for-
purpose sector, including in professional associations. David’s responsibilities include finance, IT, 
people and culture, risk management, legal and compliance, and property. 

David O’Kane BA, ACMA, AGIA, ACG

Chief Operations Officer

Leon drives membership growth, business development and, from June 2021, the engagement 
initiatives for Governance Institute. He is also responsible for the state divisions. Leon has over  
15 years of experience working with professional associations. 

Leon Cox BBus (Hosp & HR), CertTAA

General Manager, Membership and Engagement  

Catherine’s team is responsible for policy, advocacy and media. Her background includes a senior 
manager role with APRA, policy and governance roles at the AICD and the Financial Services Council, 
secretariat to the ASX Corporate Governance Council and as company secretary for the Cancer 
Council NSW. She has also worked as a lawyer in Sydney and Hong Kong. 

Catherine Maxwell BA(Hons)/LLB, FGIA, FCG

General Manager, Policy & Advocacy

Mark’s team supports Governance Institute’s objective of being the leading provider of accredited 
postgraduate education and training in governance and risk management. Mark has 20+ years’ 
experience working in higher education in Australia and the UK. 

Mark Wilbourn BSc(Hons), MSc

General Manager, Education

General management team

Rachel Waterhouse FGIA FCG, was General Manager, Engagement until her departure from the organisation in June 2021. 
Meegan George FGIA, was Chief Operating Officer until her departure from the organisation in November 2021. 

Since 1914, Governance Institute of Australia has been a division of The Chartered Governance Institute (CGI), formerly known as 
The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (ICSA). The Chartered Governance Institute is the premier global qualifying 
organisation for professionals aspiring to become a Chartered Secretary or Chartered Governance Professional. CGI qualifies people 
who have roles as company secretaries, governance advisers, risk managers, compliance managers and more.

The Australian Division is well represented by Peter Turnbull AM FCG FGIA(Life), currently international President and Alan Evans FCG FGIA 
as the Australian representative on council.

The Chartered Governance Institute is an international body, with over 30,000 members living and working in over 80 countries.  
CGI has nine divisions worldwide, supporting membership and qualifying students through its International Qualifying Scheme. 
Individuals who complete postgraduate courses on offer through Governance Institute of Australia meet the education requirements 
for entry into membership of The Chartered Governance Institute.

During 2021, The Chartered Governance Institute (CGI) celebrated its 130-year anniversary. For over 130 years, CGI has been the 
most active global organisation in the promotion of good governance and in recent times has made progress towards the nine 
divisions rebranding to align to a common CGI brand and values.

Governance Institute’s General Manager, Policy and Advocacy is an active member of CGI’s Thought Leadership Committee, a global 
network of practitioners who contribute their expertise and experience to produce a range of resources and material designed to 
be of interest to the global membership. For example, in 2021 Governance Institute contributed the Australian chapter to the study 
Women in the boardroom: International governance stocktake.

Peter Turnbull AM FCG FGIA(Life) Alan Evans FCG FGIA

The Chartered Governance Institute and Governance Institute of Australia
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Strategy 2020-2025Strategy 2020-2025

On the back of a tumultuous two years, Governance Institute 
has evolved with the changing landscape to meet the needs 
of members and the business community. In line with this 
evolution, during the year the Board and executive reviewed the 
strategic plan through the lens of the pandemic and decided to 
reframe the plan via a balanced scorecard structure to assist 
with prioritising initiatives and tracking progress against key 
metrics. This approach will assist in maintaining strategic focus 
for the organisation, allowing the executive team to stagger 
initiatives to better manage competing priorities with the limited 
resources at hand.

This balanced scorecard approach allows the board to focus on 
the major themes that will drive the business forward in its goal 
of achieving the vision. The three main themes are outstanding 
membership value, phenomenal education and prominent and 
influential. To ensure initiatives are being pursued in alignment 
with these themes, they are also mapped to the following 
categories which are consistent with best practice when introducing 
balanced scorecards, ie financially sustainable, customer-centric, 
efficient and innovative and within organisational capacity.

This scorecard was under development during the last quarter 
of 2021 with final board approval in 2022.

We have a significant number of plans and initiatives in the 
pipeline for 2022 as we continue to serve our members, 
create an accessible offering, advocate for our community and 
increase awareness of the importance of good governance, 
guided at all times by our strategy. 

Overview of our key 2022 strategic initiatives 
by theme

Outstanding membership value

Our focus is on ensuring our products and services are world 
class and fit for purpose.

We will monitor this by measuring our members’ satisfaction 
and feedback through our member survey and seeking feedback 
on the services and products that we offer.

During 2021 the data showed that digital events were very 
successful for virtual member meetings and discussion groups. 
We will also continue to place a renewed focus on engaging with 
our members based in regional Australia with a regional forum 
and by providing access to members digitally providing greater 
member value.

Phenomenal education

Our courses and programs are designed to maximise our students’ 
learning outcomes on key governance and risk management issues.

We are embarking on an implementation of a new learning 
management system to allow for greater advancements in the 
quality of our education products, continue to roll out new, user-
friendly materials for learning and establishing a governance 
capability framework. This will allow for practical, real time and 
flexible education which is what the market will expect from a 
leading Institute.

We are also committed to looking at how we can be efficient 
and effective in the updating and creation of materials to ensure 
they reflect the most recent developments in each area of study. 
Aspects of the pathway to enrol into courses and purchase 
subjects are also under review for improvement.

Prominent and influential

We are pleased to see our membership continuing to grow in 
another tumultuous year and we will build upon this. With this 
growth, plus new strategic alliances (including with universities) 
and our increasing public presence, our voice and influence will 
also continue to grow, enabling us to further encourage good 
governance practices in society.

We will build upon the increasing awareness of Governance 
Institute, informing and educating the community of who 
we are and what we do and why good governance and risk 
management should be at the core of every organisation.

We will do this by celebrating our members’ achievements, 
expanding our brand ambassador program, and ensuring we 
are a strong voice in the public debate and discussion on 
governance and risk management issues.

We will continue to position ourselves strongly as the sought- 
after voice shaping the governance environment, advocating on 
behalf of the governance and risk management community.

Our focus is now firmly on advancing our policy strategy, 
developing government relations capability and working on a 
business plan with our Canberra Leadership Group.

Organisational capacity

Our strategy focuses on financial sustainability and 
organisational capacity in line with the balanced scorecard 
framework. To assist with ensuring we have the right technology, 
the implementation of a three-year IT strategy that includes new 
staff offerings, increased cyber security and a new website that 
will be easy-to-use for members and our students should deliver 
these planned outcomes.

We will continue to roll out our wellbeing strategy. This involves 
culture pulse checks, an annual employee engagement survey, 
and access to an Employee Assistance Program as well as other 
career building and wellness initiatives.

Strategy 2020–2025 (2021)
Our strategy remained a central focus during a challenging 2021. Whilst the attention remained 
on our core vision, purpose and values, work was undertaken to reprioritise objectives including 
new metrics in a balanced scorecard approach. 

Purpose
To champion whole of organisation governance & risk management through education, 
advocacy and engagement with members and the broader community.

Values Integrity Courage Service  
excellence Collaboration

Strategic themes (Pathways)

Outstanding  
membership value

Customised support enabling 
members to be successful and act 

as advocates for the Institute.

Phenomenal  
education

Whole-of-career education  
that is practical, real-time  

and flexibly delivered.

Prominent and 
influential

Leading voice with audiences  
that matter.

Be financially sustainable
Focus on strong cashflow, generate sufficient 
revenue and maintain sustainable expenditure.

Customer centric
Improve satisfaction of members and students, 
increase influence and brand awareness for the 
benefit of the profession.

Organisational capacity
Improve technology, engage members to advocate 
and be a great place to work.

Efficient and innovative
Modernise education, make it easy for people to 
find what they need and enhance the services to 
business.

Vision
A stronger society through governance excellence
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Member profiles

Rohan 
Abeyewardene 
FGIA FCG 
Group Company Secretary 
Vicinity Group

How an understanding of governance/risk management helps me in my role

Governance is such a broad concept around how an organisation is run and decisions are made having 
regard to the interests of a diverse stakeholder base. Understanding governance in this broad context 
and equally understanding our business and its value drivers enables me to partner strategically to 
optimise business outcomes that create value and prevent value loss for our stakeholders, while 
effectively supporting our directors in fulfilling their ever-increasing obligations.  

Why I belong to Governance Institute

I first became involved with the Governance Institute earlier in my career when undertaking the 
Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance which was a fantastic program to complement the 
experience I was gaining within my organisation. 

Being involved with Governance Institute helps me keep my finger on the pulse of a rapidly evolving 
governance landscape which directly benefits my organisation. It also provides a network of experienced 
professionals and thought leaders to collaborate with to positively impact the governance landscape 
through our respective organisations and external engagement. 

Frances Finucan 
FGIA

Company Secretary 
Collins Foods Limited

How an understanding of governance/risk management helps me in my role 

Good governance, ‘governance in action’ looks effortless and supports the right information being 
available so that the right decisions can be made; in a way that allows the business to keep operating 
in an effective and focused way.  Understanding the framework of best practice rules, relationships 
systems and processes (governance) allows the framework to be customised to our organisation so 
that it is effective and relevant. When information is incomplete, understanding risk management and 
how it operates in our organisation means alternatives can be discussed and the most appropriate 
decision may still be made. 

Why I belong to Governance Institute 

Early in my career working for the market supervisor, I was fortunate to observe governance and risk in 
action across a wide variety of organisations and industries. My first interaction with the Governance 
Institute was its Graduate Diploma in Applied Corporate Governance in 2009.  This laid a strong 
foundation for my career in governance. Organisations and industries are dynamic and governance and 
risk management must keep pace to be effective. Being able to distil detailed and voluminous guidance 
to provide tailored and practical advice on varied topics is fundamental to my role and having access 
to professional, reliable and relevant material from a single source as well as real time discussion 
opportunities with other members is why I choose to be a member.  

How an understanding of governance/risk management helps me in my role

The rise of stakeholder activism is increasingly affecting the way organisations are governed. Stakeholders 
are becoming more vocal in their demands for ‘good governance’ with an increased focus on environmental 
and social factors. Consulting across various industries, I collaborate with organisations to create 
robust governance and risk frameworks that strengthen stakeholder confidence and provide solid 
foundations to support high-performance and sustainable success. 

Assisting companies to adopt good governance practices helps to ensure they are well placed to respond 
to the changing corporate environment. Establishing, measuring and continually improving governance 
systems means that businesses not only survive and remain profitable, but are enabled to fulfil their 
mission, achieve their vision and evaluate emerging trends that may offer new, diverse opportunities.  

Why I belong to Governance Institute

I started my journey with Governance Institute of Australia 19 years ago, first as a graduate and now as 
a very proud Fellow. Membership has offered excellent benefits including professional accreditation, 
career development, access to research and resources, outstanding events and briefing from 
regulators. I have also been afforded the opportunity to give back by serving on the Western Australian 
Council and facilitating certificate courses for the past 12 years. But most importantly, Governance 
Institute provides valuable connections to future employers, employees, customers and suppliers. It is a 
privilege to be part of a professional network that is welcoming, diverse and inclusive. 

How an understanding of governance/risk management helps me in my role

As the chief executive officer of the Rural City of Murray Bridge I have primary responsibility for the 
development and implementation of governance and risk management frameworks that support the 
decision-making of the elected council and ensure good public administration. A sound understanding 
of good governance and risk management practices is fundamental to my role and aligned to my strong 
personal commitment to excellence in public sector governance and the delivery of quality services to 
the community.  

Why I belong to Governance Institute

Membership of Governance Institute provides me with access to best practice corporate governance 
and risk management resources and opportunities for ongoing learning and professional development. 
Governance Institute forums provide networking opportunities to exchange ideas with like-minded 
governance practitioners in the public sector. My membership of Governance Institute through my role 
as a member of the SA/NT State Council also provides me the opportunity to give something back to 
governance and risk management professionals in the public sector.

Paige McNeil 
FGIA FCG 

Director and consultant 
Extra Mile Developments

Michael Sedgman 
FGIA FCG 

Chief Executive Officer 
Rural City of Murray  
Bridge

Gelina Talbot  
GIA(Affiliated)

Commander   
Transformation and 
Delivery Office, NSW 
Police Force

How an understanding of governance/risk management helps me in my role 

As a new chief risk officer (CRO) and board member it was crucial that I had a strong understanding of 
enterprise-wide governance, risk and compliance management which I strengthened by completing 
Governance Institute’s Certificate in Governance and Risk Management. That learning elevated my 
knowledge and understanding of enterprise governance and risk and helped me to work effectively 
with my team and the executive in designing and embedding enterprise risk management, governance 
and compliance strategies policies, and frameworks across the organisation. It also ensured I 
understood and carried out my care and due diligence responsibilities as a board member. Having a 
strong understanding of governance/risk management has been fundamental in how I lead, influence, 
and embed enterprise-wide approaches across the NSW Police Force, ensuring it is sustainable and 
provides a world-class and ethical policing service to the people of NSW.  

Why I belong to Governance Institute

As a GIA(Affiliate), I can stay connected and informed on recognised best practice for governance and 
risk management strategies and practices. The opportunity to connect with other risk management and 
governance professionals through Governance Institute has been beneficial to my continued learning 
and development as a CRO, board member and as chief transformation officer who has responsibility 
for leading and delivering transformational and keystone projects and programs for the organisation.   

Member profilesMember profiles

Being involved with Governance Institute helps  
me keep my finger on the pulse of a rapidly  

evolving governance landscape. 
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These groups enable members to collaborate and develop 
events, resources and network to drive governance throughout 
all levels of an organisation and to ensure mid-management are 
cognisant of good governance practice to commence building 
their careers in the governance and risk space. 

• Quarterly state manager member emails were established 
with relevant state information and featuring a local member 
to foster the relationship between the Institute and the 
members in their state. 

• Member Supplier Directory launched to connect our 
members with quality suppliers to support their business 
and create opportunities for members. 

Diversity in members 
Our changing membership base indicates that governance is 
a changing landscape and includes many roles responsible for 
executing best governance practice within an organisation. This 
is reflected in the diversity of roles evident in our new member 
applications as well as gender and age diversity. 

Milestones achieved in 2021 
• 3,658 members reached ten years of membership 

• 2,551 members reached 20 years of membership 

• 74 members reached 25 years of membership 

• 42 members reached 50 years of membership 

• 10 members reached 60 years of membership

• 1 new Life Member was appointed by the Board 

Member retention rate

Membership growth
Our membership base is still experiencing good growth and a 
high retention rate across all categories of membership. Overall 
membership retention remained high at 91 per cent for 2021 
and we have welcomed 941 new members to our community. 

State councils 
Governance Institute members are represented by their state 
council in NSW, VIC, SA, TAS, WA and QLD. In addition, we have 
an ACT working group which operates in a similar manner to 
councils. State councils provide support to the state offices 
to deliver discussion groups, events and by connecting our 
state managers to potential new members and corporate 
opportunities. 

State councillors provide state representation on our 
committees to ensure local knowledge, experiences and 
learnings are considered in committee activities. State 
councillors also represent sector, gender, and age diversity and 
bring a variety of skillsets to influence the services and activities 
provided to our members. 

New member value initiatives in 2021 
New initiatives to improve and sustain membership value are 
key to member retention. Some of the new initiatives during the 
year include: 

• Introduction of special interest groups 

• Emerging governance professionals 

• Whole of organisation governance 

New members

Our membership

335
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2019

2020

371

132
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2021 447 105 389

Affiliated Associate Fellow

118 337
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• Overseas

• TAS

2021
31%

19%

20%

11%

11%
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Our membership

New members joining the Institute by gender

Overall members by gender

At year end, members and subscribers 
totalled 8,386

Membership by profile

Members by state

2021
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37%

25%

16%
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Total number of membersNumber of members and subscribers

Overall membership retention remained high  
at 91 per cent for 2021 and we have welcomed  

941 new members to our community.

• Senior career governance 
or risk management 
professional

• CEO or C-suite executive

• Early career governance 
or risk management 
professional

• Governance or risk 
management consultant

• Non-executive director

• Retired

81%

94%

81%
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Affiliated

Associate/Fellow
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42% 58%

2021 37% 63%
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Website
In previous years we have tracked website visits, Google 
Analytics now tracks users per session. In 2021 we had fewer 
unique visitors than the previous year but we recorded steady 
growth on 2019. 

Website growth, number of unique users

2021 366,909

2020 388,010

2019 298,562

Digital events
Social distancing rules but the importance of member engagement 
due to COVID-19 restrictions limited the number of face-to-face 
events in 2021. This  meant that the majority of our events 
transitioned to a digital format. The digital format allowed 
members to engage from anywhere across Australia or around 
the globe. National Conference was virtual only and we had a 
record number of over 900 attendees.

Our state-based Governance and Risk Management Forums 
were held face-to-face and with a national virtual option. We 
engaged with a total of 464 attendees on day one and 357 on 
day two of the forums.

2021 65 virtual events with 5,584 registrations

2020 63 virtual events with 8,094 registrations

2019 11 webinars with 3,109 registrations

Social media
Social media is an important engagement, brand awareness 
and referral channel for Governance Institute. In 2021, LinkedIn 
exceeded the 27,000 follower milestone.

Email marketing
The email database continued to grow in 2021. Our News 
Update email reached over 43,000 people. 

In 2021, we began using member and customers data and 
preferences to provide greater personalisation of email content.  

Email database growth, number of email subscribers 

2021 43,213

2020 42,100

2019 38,292

YouTube
In 2021 we increased our YouTube followers to 1,059 from 
636 in 2020.

Media and communications 
In 2021 we had 584 media mentions, our strongest year ever 
for media coverage and a 98 per cent increase compared to the 
previous year.

Awareness of Governance Institute as the go-to expert on 
topical issues has continued to grow and we have also placed 
a strong focus on ensuring our reports, media releases and 
thought leadership projects are timely, relevant, and practical 
to help ensure widespread coverage in the media. We have also 
sharpened our communications across all channels to help 
boost engagement on launch day. 

Projects that received significant media coverage include Ethics 
Index 2021, the Board Diversity Index (released in partnership 
with Watermark Search International) and the Board and 
Executive Remuneration Survey (released in partnership with Aon). 

Digital engagement

Digital engagement

LinkedIn

Twitter Facebook

LinkedIn member only group

Instagram

Increase in number of social media followers

19,826

2021

2019

2020

27,045

2,195
3,909

3,552
1,719

156
1,870

23,553
3,766

2,102
1,855

251

2,204
426

National
Conference

2021
Governance Institute

culture   powers    purpose

1–2 September  | Virtual

The ‘What is risk management’ 
video, created in February 
2020 was our most popular 
video in 2021 receiving 39,746 
new views. The video has been 
viewed over 60,000 times. 

Modernisation of education 
Modernisation of education 
To realise our aim to be the leader in governance education and 
training, Governance Institute has embarked on a modernisation 
agenda that will culminate in the establishment of a Governance 
Institute academy. A governance capability framework will provide 
the structure for the academy to develop richly interactive and 
personalised learning experiences for students to enhance their 
skills, capabilities and attributes for their future work and study. 
The framework will optimise the learner experience and improve 
access to learning opportunities and pathways, with short 
courses and postgraduate education clearly positioned within 
the framework.

The first stage of modernisation was completed in 2021 with 
a restructure of academic governance and an increased focus 
on delivery to meet future needs in learning and teaching and 
student experience. The Education Committee, responsible 
for assuring compliance with the Higher Education Standards 
Framework (Threshold Standards) 2021, is the major forum 
within Governance Institute for discussion and resolution of 
academic matters with responsibility for academic policymaking, 
academic management, and oversight of best practice in 
learning and teaching. The committee is now supported 
in meeting its objectives by a recently established course 
management team and subject management teams.

Academic governance

Education Committee

Instructional Designer

Instructional Designer

Technical Editor

Course Management team

Subject Management teams

The education team has been restructured to address two 
clearly defined areas of responsibility:

1. learning and teaching

2. student experience. 

Evidence-based learning design will be a focus for the learning 
and teaching team in developing engaging learning materials 
and activities to suit blended delivery formats including lectures, 
masterclasses, forums and online/elearning. Greater emphasis 
has been put on instructional design with the recruitment of an 
additional instructional designer. Support for the modernisation 
of the student experience is provided by redefined roles in 
student progression, student learning, and student success.

Governance Institute continues to offer the Graduate Diploma 
of Applied Corporate Governance and Risk Management, with 
a nested Graduate Certificate, and a range of short courses 
and Certificates, including our Effective Director Course. 
Modernisation of online short courses has completed with 
eLearn formats in market. Interactivity enhancements are 
ongoing as courses are updated and reviewed. A new learning 
management system will be introduced in 2022 to further 
support the modernisation agenda.

General Manager, 
Education

National Manager, 
Learning & Teaching

Administrator,  
Student Progression

Administrator,  
Student Learning

Administrator,  
Student Success

National Manager, 
Student Experience

Modernisation of education

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TcKoUe8vRE0&ab_channel=GovernanceInstituteofAustralia
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Governance Institute provides 
leading education and training 
in corporate governance and 
risk management to:

• develop and enrich the 
governance and risk 
management expertise of 
members

• encourage new membership 
of Governance Institute 
via education and training 
pathways

• promote good governance 
by encouraging the uptake 
of governance and risk 
management skills more 
generally in the wider 
community

• assist organisations enhance 
their governance capability 
and more effective decision-
making

• build alliances with other 
educators to leverage 
governance and risk 
education into new areas.

Short courses Certificates

Individuals often first engage with our 
education and training by searching for 
specific governance or risk management 
issues and for just-in-time learning in 
a particular area. Students can register 
into individual courses and complete 
them progressively or register for six 
courses for a Certificate upfront. With the 
continuation of COVID-19 in 2021 the 
delivery of short courses was primarily in 
digital format and resulted in a significant 
increase of attendees. 

Certificate enrolments lifted in 2021 due 
to the shifting nature of the market where 
individuals wanted short, sharper, more 
practical learnings as they were time poor 
with the additional burden of working during 
the pandemic. Employers too were looking for 
more affordable options for their staff. 

Number of short courses undertaken

Number of Certificate enrolments

Number of graduates

Dux awards

Dux awards are recognition of academic merit/excellence in 
postgraduate education, in the following categories: 

Best in subject (awarded to the student with the best mark in that 
subject in that year): 

• Applied Corporate Law — Peter Evans 

• Corporate Accountability: Meetings and Disclosure  
— Marise Fraser 

• Corporate Governance — Julie Comninos 

• Development of Strategy — Emma Stacey 

• Enterprise Risk Management — Pearl Rozenberg 

• Finance for Decision Making — Sheridan Willrath 

• Public Law and Government — Leanne Thompson 

Developing governance and 
risk management expertise

Postgraduate courses

Individuals can undertake accredited postgraduate courses as their careers progress, 
providing a deeper and much more rigorous exploration of knowledge and skills, 
appropriate to more senior levels of governance and risk management responsibility. 
The enrolments in postgraduate courses reflect the gender balance of broader society 
and will, in the long term, lead to evolution in the composition of Governance Institute’s 
membership.

Number of postgraduate enrolments
Number of enrolments by Certificate 
graduates

Number of graduates

Professional and networking events

Many Certificate graduates go on to 
undertake the postgraduate courses 
benefiting from greater exposure to 
governance knowledge and skills  
found in Governance Institute’s 
postgraduate courses.

Governance Institute’s Certificates
• Certificate in Governance Practice

• Certificate in Governance and Risk 
Management

• Certificate in Governance for  
Not-for-Profits

Governance Institute’s postgraduate courses
• Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance and Risk 

Management

• Graduate Certificate of Applied Corporate Governance and Risk 
Management

Networking and profile events
Governance Institute remains committed to networking 
and profile events to ensure members, subscribers and 
professionals in the governance and risk community 
have opportunity to connect, engage and empower 
the profession. In 2021 we saw a slight increase in the 
number of events and also growth in our virtual offerings. 

Total number  
of events

Total number  
of attendees

2021 34 3,407

2020 30 2,384

2019 53 1,570

Total number  
of events

Total number  
of attendees

2021 224 9,402

2020 228 9,908

2019 197 6,883

Developing governance and risk management expertiseDeveloping governance and risk management expertise
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2019
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1721,002
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1722019

2020
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1722019

2020

2021

82
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Professional development events

In 2021 we held a similar number of events compared to 
2020. The pandemic continued to create uncertainty relating 
to face-to-face event attendance but participation in virtual 
offerings remained strong. Professional development events 
provide our members, subscribers and customers with 
opportunities to stay up to date on current topics to assist 
with their roles. The number of attendees decreased slightly. 

• Public Sector Accountability and Transparency — no dux 
awarded 

• Risk and Compliance — Allira Hudson-Gofers and Yvette 
Wirken 

• Risk Management Project — Nick Rowley

Best graduate (awarded to the graduating student with the 
best academic record in that course in that year): 

• Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance and 
Risk Management — Emma Stacey 

• Graduate Certificate of Applied Corporate Governance and 
Risk Management — Emma Taylor 

* Includes Effective Director course



 Page 23   |   Annual Report 2021 Governance Institute of Australia LtdGovernance Institute of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2021  |   Page 22

We advocated strongly for companies 
to have the ability to hold AGMs using 
technology permanently and for 
electronic execution of documents and 
shareholder communications to be 
permitted. These reforms finally became 
law in early February 2022. Our next 
priority will be assisting members assess 
the impact of the new legislation. 

We continued our participation in the 
Modernising Business Communications 
Expert Panel. We made three submissions 
to Treasury and the Deregulation Task 
Force in the Department of Prime Minister 
and Cabinet on improving the technology 
neutrality of Treasury Portfolio laws and 
finding a common pathway for digital 
execution of statutory declarations and 
deeds. 

As a long-standing member of the 
Modernising Business Registers (MBR) 
Business Advisory Group we continued 
our active involvement with this group.  
To assist with the roll out of Director IDs 
from 1 November 2021 we collaborated 
with the Australian Tax Office on member 
communications. A key advocacy priority 
continues to be advocating that directors’ 
and officers’ personal information should 
not appear on the public register not only 
to protect privacy but also to reduce the 
risk of identity fraud and that company 
secretaries should also have an identifier.

In our submission on the Commonwealth 
Integrity Commission draft legislation 

Advocacy is a key pathway to fulfilling our 
vision of strengthening society through 
governance excellence. We know that we 
have been successful when we achieve 
the policy outcomes for which we have 
been advocating. As an independent 
and trusted voice, we made 25 public 
submissions, almost double the number 
than in 2020, to government and others in 
2021 on a range of policy areas and also 
provided input on a confidential basis 
as our expertise is sought to test public 
policy ideas.

We also met with government ministers, 
key parliamentary stakeholders, 
regulators and those advising policy 
makers, represented our members 
on relevant industry and regulatory 
committees, gave evidence to Senate 
Committee inquiries, and provided 
media commentary on issues as they 
arose to influence the development of 
public policy. Our four policy committees 
underpin this work.

We maintained our focus on ensuring 
our members and the organisations 
they serve had the right governance 
structures, processes and policies in 
place as well as appropriate laws and 
regulations to support them as they 
responded to the constantly changing 
nature of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Objective 1: Australia’s 
governance environment 
enables sustainable, 
purposeful organisations 
that are both profitable and 
internationally competitive
Governance Institute continued to work 
with members, ASIC, Treasury and other 
stakeholders to assist companies to 
hold AGMs using technology, lodge and 
execute documents and communicate 
with their members as the Corporations 
Act 2001 requirements changed over the 
course of the year.

we welcomed the first direct steps to 
establish a national anti-corruption body 
to promote transparency, accountability 
and integrity in the public sector. We 
noted the flaws in the legislation that 
risk reducing the effectiveness of the 
Commission in combating corruption. 
We also urged Government to ensure 
the Commission has sufficient scope, 
jurisdiction, powers and resources to 
fulfil its purpose of promoting integrity, 
and therefore good governance, in the 
Commonwealth public sector. 

We continued strong advocacy for a 
Commonwealth Integrity Commission 
in our submission to the Australian 
Human Rights Commission’s review 
into Commonwealth Parliamentary 
workplaces prompted by allegations 
of workplace sexual harassment and 
assault and other related issues. We 
also made a joint submission with AICD 
on the Sex Discrimination and Fair Work 
(Respect at Work) Bill 2021. 

Objective 2: Australia’s 
regulatory framework is clear, 
certain, coherent and fit-for-
purpose
Building on our 2020 Climate change 
risk disclosure guidance and following 
member consultation, Governance 
Institute’s board approved participation 
in the ANZ Chapter of the Professional 

Leadership and influence

Key policy metrics
Governance Institute’s policy and advocacy initiatives are supported by long-standing 
relationships with key stakeholders. Our members’ significant expertise and experience inform 
our policy and advocacy positions. During 2021, our policy and advocacy focus was on three 
broad objectives. We also responded to the continuing implications of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Leadership and influenceLeadership and influence

25 public policy  submissions

4  new Good  Governance Guides

Our 4 policy committees met 39 times 

584 media mentions

speaking engagements 36

4 pieces of guidance and 4 large 
thought leadership projects

We advocated strongly for companies to have 
the ability to hold AGMs using technology 
permanently and for electronic execution  

of documents and shareholder  
communications to be permitted.

5 Member update news articles 



 Page 25   |   Annual Report 2021 Governance Institute of Australia LtdGovernance Institute of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2021  |   Page 24

Leadership and influence

In response to a signal from Government 
it intended to proceed with expanding 
the scope of ACNC Governance 
Standard 3, we wrote noting members’ 
continuing reservations about the 
proposed expansion of the Governance 
Standard, which is contrary to the 
recommendations of the 2018 ACNC 
Legislation Review. The Senate Standing 
Committee for the Scrutiny of Delegated 
Legislation had formally recommended 
the instrument be disallowed due to 
concerns with the conferral of broad 
discretionary powers under the Regulations 
and the potential impacts on implied 
freedom of political communication. In an 
unusual development the Senate agreed to 
disallow the regulation in November 2021. 

Legislation passed in December 2021 
to expand the Security of Critical 
Infrastructure Act 2018, following 
increasing concern over rising cyber 
security attacks and foreign interference. 
The expanded Act gives the Government 
the ability to designate many more 
Australian organisations as ‘critical 
infrastructure’, subject to a short 
consultation process. The Government 
also has unprecedented ‘step in’ powers 
to intervene in the security response of 
private organisations through the use of 
directions powers. The new legislation 
also introduces mandatory reporting 
obligations for cyber security incidents. 
We have noted in our engagement with 
government and regulators the potential 
for various new and existing notification 
schemes to overlap.

Navigating the pandemic: 
Thought leadership, guidance 
and submissions
At the commencement of 2021, few thought that within a few months many companies would 
face a second year of lockdowns. With the Treasurer’s temporary relief enabling the holding 
of meetings using technology expiring at the end of March 2021 there was significant concern 
about the ability to organise and hold shareholder meetings in accordance with the law, as well 
as COVID-19 restrictions. 

The requirements relating to holding AGMs, executing documents 
and communicating with shareholders using technology changed 
several times during the course of 2021. One of our key activities 
during the year was providing members with the latest information 
about the applicable rules. We provided several member updates 
on the current position, and we issued two updates to our joint 
guidance with Australasian Investor Relations Association (AIRA) 
and the Business Law Section of the Law Council of Australia 
(LCA) in April and September 2021. Significant time was invested 
in liaising with members, regulators, legislators and other key 
stakeholders to understand and communicate the challenges 
companies were facing.  

In early 2021, we also convened an industry roundtable that 
brought together all key stakeholders, including members in 
the listed, unlisted and not-for-profit sectors, and stakeholders 
who had raised issues with virtual meetings to discuss issues 
emerging from the 2020 AGM season. The Chatham House 
discussion enabled attendees to share their views and  
concerns openly.  

To further our advocacy campaign, we made five submissions 
on various drafts of legislation relating to the use of technology 
for meetings, execution of documents and communication with 
shareholders. Our CEO Megan Motto and Legislation Review 
Committee members Emma Lawler and Graeme Blackett gave 
evidence at the Senate Economics References Committee 
hearing into the Treasury Laws Amendment (2021 Measures 
No.1) Bill 2021 in June 2021. This piece of legislation proposed 
further temporary relief on virtual AGMs, digital shareholder 
communications, and electronic document execution.  

The bill also included contentious amendments to the continuous 
disclosure regime. At the hearing we urged the Senate to pass 
the bill to provide industry with certainty ahead of the peak 
AGM season. We argued for several provisions to be amended 
to avoid unintended consequences. We also advocated strongly 
for virtual AGMs to be allowed — the drafting of the bill only 
permitted physical/virtual hybrids. Our key message was that 
meeting formats should not be mandated, rather it should be 
‘open to companies to adopt the format most suited to them 
and their members’. Pleasingly the bill introducing the temporary 
relief until 31 March 2022 for virtual AGMs and electronic 
execution became law in August 2021.   

In September 2021 the government released an Exposure 
Draft of the permanent reforms to the Corporations Act 2001 
to allow virtual and hybrid AGMs and to introduce a new and 
more extensive process for electronically executing certain 
documents by corporations. While largely supportive of the 
proposals we had concerns with the requirement to enable 
virtual meetings only if already permitted by a company’s 
constitution. The legislation was introduced into Parliament 
in October 2021. We met with key parliamentary stakeholders 
in support of the bill and strongly advocated to both sides of 
government that the reforms be passed promptly to provide 
much needed regulatory clarity and to convey members’ 
concerns around requiring a constitutional amendment to hold 
a fully virtual AGM. The bill finally passed in early February 
2022. In light of continuing cases of COVID-19 we successfully 
engaged with ASIC to gain an extension of time for companies to 
hold wholly virtual AGMs, subject to certain conditions.

Navigating the pandemic

We also engaged in an important 
consultation by the Department of Home 
Affairs with potentially wide-reaching 
impacts on the cyber security practices 
of Australian companies. In response to 
the rising threat levels the Department 
has proposed a number of cyber security 
initiatives, including a voluntary or 
mandatory cyber security governance 
standard. While we gave in principle 
support for a voluntary —not mandatory 
— governance standard for large 
businesses provided it is well-designed, 
well-targeted and fit for purpose we 
noted that many entities are already 
heavily regulated in this area.

Objective 3: To ensure 
the competence and 
professionalism of Australian 
governance and risk 
professionals
Our program of thought leadership 
continued in 2021 on a range of 
topics — most notably updates on the 
latest information about the current 
requirements around meetings using 
technology. 

We issued substantially enhanced 
Guidance on Board Papers accompanied 
by a sample board paper. 

Major thought leadership projects 
included the Ethics Index, the Board 
Diversity Index, the Board and Executive 
Remuneration Report, and the Future of 
the Board report.

These initiatives were promoted in a 
variety of ways including metropolitan 
and industry media, News Update 
articles, social media posts, webcasts, 
roundtables and podcasts.

We released four new technology related 
Good Governance Guides in collaboration 
with our four policy committees and 
their working groups. The policy team 
continues to assist members with 
technical queries and added several new 
documents to our Useful Practitioner 
Documents service. 

To also help build our profile and 
influence, we spoke at 36 engagements, 
including with Engineers Australia, NBN 
Co, Bendigo Bank and Women’s Agenda.

Bodies Climate Action Charter in 
December 2021. The board also approved 
Governance Institute’s policy on climate 
change and net zero.

We continued our support as a member 
of the #fixfundraising coalition as it 
advocated for reform of the laws applying 
to the fundraising activities of charities 
and NFPs, particularly in light of the strain 
on the sector due to a second year of the 
pandemic. The advocacy appears to have 
had results because in December 2021, 
it was announced that federal, state 
and territory governments had agreed 
to establish a cross-border recognition 
model to harmonise charitable 
fundraising laws. We devoted significant 
advocacy resources throughout 2021 
to ensure this commitment was given 
effect, including discussions with key 
Government and other stakeholders. We 
hope to participate in consultation on the 
preferred model in 2022.

We continued our positive engagement 
with ASX about the roll out of the CHESS 
Replacement Project in 2021. One of 
our long standing ‘asks’ has been the 
replacement of paper CHESS statements 
by electronic statements. In December 
2021 ASX announced that shareholders 
in listed companies and investment 
products will be able to receive their 
CHESS holding statements and 
notifications electronically, through an 
opt-in election process via their broker. 
This will lower costs and improve efficiency.
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2019

2020

2021 16 people

35%               17 people

20%          10 people

36%

2021

20212020
24% 27%

76%

78%

22%

2020

67%

33%

76%

24%

As Governance Institute is a professional services organisation that develops and disseminates 
knowledge, its human capital is critical to its sustainability. The culture of the organisation 
strikes a balance between being an NFP organisation and member-focused while at the same 
time incorporating many of the features of a performance-oriented commercial business.

Workplace diversity by gender
Entire staff

Senior management

Staff gender balance and 
opportunity

Governance Institute’s recruitment 
philosophy is open and transparent.

Positions are advertised publicly and 
internal employees are encouraged 
to apply. Being a small organisation, 
generally we recruit externally, but if 
possible we promote internally.

There is strong female representation 
among staff at all levels. At the end of 
2021 the senior management team had 
an equal balance of gender. 

Diversity by age shows a healthy balance 
of staff across all age groups.

Staff turnover

Governance Institute is a small organisation and staff levels fluctuate from year to year. 
This has provided the opportunity to engage new staff with the attributes required to 
deliver our strategic goals and progress projects without compromising our customer 
service. The last two years have been challenging for staff, and during 2021 staff turnover 
was higher than the previous year, but similar to pre-COVID levels.

Encouragingly, our 2021 Staff Engagement Survey results continued to show increases 
in our staff engagement, wellbeing and belief in our organisational progress compared to 
2020. For example, 84 per cent of staff said they have a high level of job satisfaction and 
commitment to our organisation. For a second year running, staff scored their belief in 
our Values, Vision and Respect of one another above 90 per cent in each category.

Workplace diversity by age

30–39

40–49

>50

<30

Employees

50%

50%

9% 34%27% 30%

12% 28%30% 30%

23%14% 22%29% 35%2019

2020

2021 9% 34%27% 30%

EmployeesEmployees

2020

73%

2019

2019

We use externally sourced salary surveys and recruitment organisations to benchmark the remuneration of roles within 
the organisation. Salary increases may occur throughout the year when roles or responsibilities change, supported by 
an appropriate business case, or the Board approves an annual increase for all employees. A whole of organisation 
remuneration review is well underway will be completed in early 2022.

We have enhanced our staff benefits in 2021 by making salary packaging and salary sacrifice available for staff. In addition, 
we have focussed on staff welfare, including delivering several mental health and wellbeing initiatives during the year.

Remuneration and other employee benefits

Board gender balance

There is a conscious effort to ensure 
female participation on state councils 
and on the Governance Institute Board.

Increasingly, this reflects the changing 
balance of our membership, with a 
majortiy of new members joining the 
institute in each of the last four years 
being female.

Staff training

Governance Institute’s expenditure on staff training (as a percentage of personnel costs) was 3.7% in 2021, which was steady 
compared to a similar year 2020, with both years impacted by COVID-19. The company actively supports ongoing professional 
development for staff, and encourages all staff to undertake internal training in order to gain a greater understanding of 
governance and risk issues in general. In line with our short courses, certificates and post graduate studies, we moved to more 
virtual training during the year, with new staff continuing to receive training in our customer relationship management and IT 
system platforms.

2020
25%

75%

2019
30%

70%

2019

2020

2021

3.7%

3.7%

4.3%

2021

50%

Male

50%

Female

Male

Male

Female

Female
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Principal activities, objectives and strategies 
The principal activities of Governance Institute of Australia 
Ltd (Governance Institute or the Company) during the year 
were to champion whole-of-organisation governance and risk 
management through education, advocacy and engagement 
with members and the broader community.

With the exception of adapting the delivery of our services in 
response to the ongoing COVID-19 situation, there was no 
significant change in the nature of the activities during the year 
and the operations are in accordance with the constitution. The 
Company’s financial report has been prepared in accordance 
with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 
2012, the Australian Charities and Not-for- profits Commission 
Regulation 2013 and Australian Accounting Standard AASB 
1060 General Purpose Financial Statements – Simplified 
Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit Tier 2 Entities.

To meet its long-term objectives, the Company will strive to see that:

• The organisation’s governance arrangements remain fit 
for purpose and align with contemporary best practice 
through the implementation of recommendations from 
an independent review of the Governance Institute’s 
governance arrangements.

• Australia’s governance frameworks lead the world in 
facilitating a strong economy underpinned by responsible 
performance and organisational culture.

• Current members and aspiring company secretaries, 
governance professionals, risk managers and directors are 
provided with the best education, resource support and 
career support to enhance their professional standing.

• The organisation is strategically focused on being innovative; 
encouraging positive engagement with, and influencing, 
all stakeholders; and fostering a culture and values that 
ensures it is sustainable.

• Governance practitioners are provided with a trusted 
community from which they can draw education, provide 
input, and access a knowledge sharing network of support, 
appropriate for their changing needs and circumstances 
throughout their chosen governance careers.

The company’s short-term objective is to continue to focus on 
member engagement, innovation and lifting and maintaining our 
profile for the next 12 months to maintain member retention at 
91 per cent or better.

To meet its short-term objectives, the Company will continue to:

• provide services, resources, and training to members

• create and implement member engagement strategies 
that are more targeted and aim to continue to increase our 
relevance and profile

Your Directors present this report on the Company for the financial year ended 
31 December 2021. 

• strengthen our advocacy activities to influence decision 
makers and support responsible performance using good 
governance practices

• better align our product offering to meet the career stages 
and interests of our members.

Financial results
Governance Institute is exempt from income tax.

An operating deficit of $200,507 was reported for the year.

Accumulated Members’ Funds at year-end totalled $5,649,756.

Dividends
As the Governance Institute’s constitution prohibits the payment 
of dividends, no dividends have been paid.

Review and result of operations
Company performance was assessed by the Board of Directors 
at their 15 Board meetings held during the year.

The number of Board meetings in 2021 was significantly above 
usual levels. This reflected the urgency and attention devoted 
by Directors to implementation of Governance Institute’s 
governance review recommendations and working closely with 
management on monitoring and responding to impacts of COVID-19.

Forecast reviews are presented and discussed as to the 
progress between budget and actual results achieved. The Risk, 
Audit and Finance Committee also reviews the budget prior to 
making recommendations to the Board for their consideration.

Total operating revenue for the year amounting to $9,980,519 
primarily came from member and subscriber fees 35.4 per cent; 
postgraduate courses 19.4 per cent; and short courses and 
certificate courses 30.3 per cent.

In addition, other income of $231,166 was received in strata 
levy refunds. Total expenditure for the year amounting 
to $10,412,192 was primarily from direct costs for short 
courses and certificate courses 2.1 per cent; direct costs for 
postgraduate courses 5.7 per cent; payroll 56.4 per cent and 
governance and administration 19.5 per cent.

Likely developments 
Likely developments in the operations of Governance Institute 
and the expected results of those operations in future financial 
years are disclosed in the Chair and CEO’s report at pages 4–5 
and the integrated report from pages 6–27.

Significantly, our Level 10, 5 Hunter St property has been slated 
for mandatory acquisition by the NSW government as part of the 
Sydney Metro West Hunter St Station project. Negotiations for 
acquisition are likely to be completed in the first half of 2022.

Directors’ report

The number of Board meetings in 2021 
was significantly above usual levels. 

This reflected the urgency and attention 
devoted by Directors to implementation 

of Governance Institute’s governance 
review recommendations and  

working closely with management 
 on monitoring and responding  

to impacts of COVID-19.

Environmental regulations 
Governance Institute’s operations are not regulated by 
any significant environmental regulation under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a state or territory. 

Events subsequent to balance date 
There are no matters or circumstances that have arisen since 
the end of the financial year pertaining to the 2021 operations.

Continuing members of the Board of Governance Institute at 
the date of this report are Pauline Vamos, Ainslie Cunningham, 
Garth Fountain-Smith, Greg Hanigan, Helen Hardy, Andrew 
Leake, Christine Manuel, John Mazengarb, Rachel Rees and 
Caron Sugars.

Tim Timchur resigned as a Director at the end of 2021.

Auditor’s indemnification 
Governance Institute has not, during or since the end of the 
financial year, in respect of any person who is or has been an 
auditor of Governance Institute or a related body corporate, 
indemnified or made any relevant agreement for indemnifying 
against a liability incurred as an auditor, including costs and 
expenses in successfully defending legal proceedings, or paid 
or agreed to pay a premium in respect of a contract insuring 
against a liability incurred as an auditor for the costs or 
expenses to defend legal proceedings.

Directors’ interests and benefits
As Governance Institute is limited by guarantee, none of 
the Directors holds an interest but each, as a member of 
Governance Institute, is liable to the extent of their undertaking 
under Governance Institute’s Constitution.

During or since the end of the financial year, Governance 
Institute has paid insurance premiums to insure the Directors 
against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in 
defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct 
while acting in the capacity of Director of Governance Institute 
other than conduct involving a willful breach of duty in relation 
to Governance Institute. Premiums were paid for each of the 
Directors listed on pages 8–9. The insurance contract entered 
into by Governance Institute prohibits disclosure of the nature of 
the liabilities insured by the insurance contract and the amount 
of the premiums.

Governance Institute’s Constitution allows for the inclusion of 
indemnities in favour of persons who are or have been a Director 
or officer of Governance Institute. To the extent permitted by 
law, Governance Institute indemnifies every person who is or 
has been a Director or officer against any liability to any person 
incurred while acting in that capacity in good faith. We also 

indemnify Directors and officers against costs and expenses 
incurred in successfully defending legal proceedings and 
ancillary matters. This indemnity operates to the extent that the 
loss or liability is not covered by a valid and current insurance 
policy. The Company has executed a deed of indemnity, with 
each of the Directors and senior officers of the Company.

Payments to the Directors and to entities from which the 
Directors may benefit for services by the Directors or entities are 
disclosed in Note 20 to the Financial Statements on page 43.

No other Directors of Governance Institute, during or since the 
end of the financial year, received or have become entitled to 
receive a benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate 
amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the 
Directors shown in the financial report or the fixed salary of 
a full-time employee of Governance Institute or of a related 
body corporate) by reason of a contract made by Governance 
Institute or of a related body corporate with one of the Directors 
or with a firm of which they are a member or with a company in 
which they have a substantial financial interest.

Proceedings on behalf of the company
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings 
on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings 
to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of 
those proceedings.

The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during 
the year.

Directors’ reportDirectors’ report
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Corporate Governance Statement

Our Corporate Governance Statement is available on our website 
here. 

Company details
The registered office and principal place of business of the 
company is:

Level 10, 5 Hunter Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia 
ABN 49 008 615 950

Liability of members on winding up
The liability of each member (and each person who has ceased 
to be a member in the preceding year) on winding up is limited 
to an amount not exceeding $100. 

Diversity of employees
In terms of the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations reporting 
requirements, the respective proportion of men and women 
employees in the whole organisation, in senior executive 
positions and on the Board are as follows:

In whole of 
organisation

In senior executive 
positions

On the 
board

Men 27% 50% 50%

Women 73% 50% 50%

Figures at 31 December 2021.

Company Secretary
Stephen Harris FGIA FCG, FCA, FAICD, — Chartered Secretary, was 
appointed company secretary of Governance Institute on 22 
February 2021. Edna Coetzee FGIA, FCG (CS, CGP) — Chartered 
Secretary, replaced Mr Harris on 1 February 2022. 

Megan Motto FGIA CEO, Governance Institute also serves as 
company secretary. 

Auditors’ independence declaration
The Auditors’ independence declaration is set out on page 50 
and forms part of the Directors’ report for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2021.

Chair and Director signatures

Financial report
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 
and Statement of changes in members funds 31 December 2021

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors.

SYDNEY, 12 April 2022

Pauline Vamos FGIA FCG 
President and Chair of 
Governance Institute of Australia 
Ltd and of the Australian Division 
of The Chartered Governance 
Institute

Rachel Rees FGIA FCG 
Director and Chair of 
Risk, Audit and Finance 
Committee

Board of 
Directors

Risk, Audit 
& Finance 
Committee

People, Remuneration & 
Nominations Committee

Pauline Vamos1 4 of 4 2 of 2 2 of 2

John Mazengarb2 15 of 15 5 of 6 2 of 2

Andrew Leake 15 of 15 6 of 6 1 of 2

Christine Manuel 15 of 15 - -

Rachel Rees3 14 of 15 6 of 6 -

Caron Sugars4 6 of 8 - 2 of 2

Tim Timchur 15 of 15 6 of 6 -

Greg Hanigan5 8 of 8 3 of 3 -

Garth Fountain-Smith 14 of 15 - -

Helen Hardy6 1 of 1 - -

Attendance at Directors’ 
meetings 
During 2021 attendance by individual 
Directors at meetings they were entitled 
to attend, was as set out in the table.

1 Board Chair, appointed 26 July 2021
2  Chair of People, Remuneration & Nominations Committee
3 Chair of Risk, Audit & Finance Committee
4 Appointed Director, 2 September 2021
5 Appointed Director, 3 September 2021
6 Appointed Director, 19 November 2021

Directors’ report

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

Revenue 4(a)  9,980,519  8,991,628 

Other income 4(c)  231,166  1,388,900 

Expenses
Depreciation expense 5(a)  (593,959)  (895,352)

Other expenses 5(b)  (9,818,233)  (8,666,497)

(Deficit)/surplus before income tax expense  (200,507)  818,679 

Income tax expense  -  - 

(Deficit)/surplus after income tax  (200,507)  818,679

Total comprehensive (deficit)/surplus for the year attributable to members  (200,507)  818,679

Members’ funds at the beginning of the year  5,850,263  5,031,584

Members’ funds at the end of the year  5,649,756  5,850,263

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9  6,367,114  5,372,196

Trade and other receivables 10  143,010  238,913
Other assets 11  248,433  298,397

Asset held for sale 12  2,809,514 -

Total current assets  9,568,071  5,909,506

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 13  143,302  3,005,761

Intangible assets 14  111,871  1,221,549

Right-of-use assets 15  1,070,833  1,428,937

Total non-current assets  1,326,006  5,656,247

Total assets  10,894,077  11,565,753

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16  530,127  540,857 

Deferred revenue 17  2,939,431  3,078,951 

Provisions 18(a)  541,999  485,986 

Lease liabilities 19(b)  202,038  436,231 

Total current liabilities  4,213,595  4,542,025

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 18(b)  27,535  48,208 

Lease liabilities 19(b)  1,003,191  1,125,257 

Total non-current liabilities  1,030,726  1,173,465

Total liabilities  5,244,321  5,715,490

Net assets  5,649,756  5,850,263

Members' funds

Reserves 6  763,033  763,033 

Accumulated surplus 7  4,886,723  5,087,230 

Total Members’ funds  5,649,756  5,850,263

https://www.governanceinstitute.com.au/about-us/our-governance/annual-report/
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021

1.   Corporate information 
Governance Institute of Australia Ltd (the ‘Company’) is an 
incorporated company limited by guarantee and domiciled in 
Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office is 
Level 10, 5 Hunter Street, Sydney, NSW, 2000. The Company is 
a not-for-profit entity.

In the event of the Company being wound up, the liability of 
each member, or each former Member who ceased to be a 
member within a year of the Company being wound up, is 
limited to an amount not exceeding $100. As the Company is 
limited by guarantee, there is no reference in the statement of 
financial position to share capital or shareholders’ equity.

The Company’s principal activities in the course of the financial 
year were to champion whole-of-organisation governance 
and risk management through education, advocacy and 
engagement with members and the broader community.

2.   Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance 

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report that 
has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards — Simplified Disclosures. This includes compliance 
with the recognition and measurement requirements of all 
Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of AASB 
1060 General Purpose Financial Statements — Simplified 
Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit Tier 2 Entities 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013.

The prior year financial report was prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards — Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements. The transition from the previous financial 
reporting framework to Australian Accounting Standards — 
Simplified Disclosures has not affected the group’s reported 
financial position, financial performance, and cash flows.

A statement of compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards cannot be made due to the Company 
applying the not-for-profit sector specific requirements 
contained in AIFRS.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 12 April 2022.

(b) Basis of measurement 

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis 
and is based on historic costs and does not take into account 
changing money values or, except where stated, current 
valuations of non-current assets. Cost is based on the fair 
values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is the Company’s functional currency.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income, and expenses. Although 
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge 
of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately 
differ from those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in 
any future periods affected. 

3.   Significant accounting policies 

(a) Financial instruments 

Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when 
the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the 
date that the Company commits itself to either the purchase or 
sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value 
adjusted for transaction costs, except where the instrument 
is classified as fair value through profit or loss, in which case 
transaction costs are immediately recognised as expenses in 
profit or loss.

Classification of financial assets 
Financial assets recognised by the Company are subsequently 
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair 
value, subject to their classification and whether the Company 
irrevocably designates the financial asset on initial recognition 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
in accordance with the relevant criteria in AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments (AASB 9).

Financial assets not irrevocably designated on initial recognition 
at FVOCI are classified as subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, FVOCI or fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) on the 
basis of both:

(a)  the Company’s business model for managing the financial 
assets; and

(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Classification of financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities classified as held-for-trading; contingent 
consideration payable by the Company for the acquisition of 
a business, and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, are 
subsequently measured at fair value.

All other financial liabilities recognised by the Company are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Subscriptions received  3,537,004  3,408,360 

Receipts from Federal Government Jobkeeper subsidy  -  1,105,608 
Receipts from participants in courses and other activities  6,440,593  6,039,554 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (8,805,790)  (8,319,898)
Interest received  3,984  26,392 
Other income  405,072  2,694 
Interest paid on lease liability  (79,065)  (98,767)
Net cash provided by operating activities 22  1,501,798 2,163,943 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (12,209)  (182,153)

Payments for intangible assets  (54,616)  (41,125)

Net cash used in investing activities  (66,825)  (223,278)

Cash flows from financing activities

Principle portion of lease payments  (440,055)  (380,019)

Net cash used in financing activities  (440,055)  (380,019)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  994,918  1,560,646 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  5,372,196  3,811,550 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9  6,367,114  5,372,196 

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2021
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Receivables 
Consistent with the Company’s business model for 
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of the financial assets, trade and other 
receivables are classified (and measured) at amortised cost.

Impairment of financial assets 
The Company applies the simplified approach under AASB 9 
to measuring the allowance for credit losses for receivables 
from contracts with customers. Under the AASB 9 simplified 
approach, the Company determines the allowance for credit 
losses for receivables from contracts with customers, contract 
assets and lease receivables on the basis of the lifetime 
expected credit losses of the financial asset. Lifetime expected 
credit losses represent the expected credit losses that are 
expected to result from default events over the expected life of 
the financial asset.

(b) Property, plant, and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other 
costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working 
condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and 
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 
located, and capitalised borrowing costs. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant, and equipment. 

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of the property, plant and 
equipment, and is recognised net within other income/other 
expenses in profit or loss. 

(ii) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
embodied within the component will flow to the Company, and 
its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day 
servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its 
residual value. Significant components of individual assets 
are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is 
different from the remainder of that asset, that component is 
depreciated separately. Depreciation is recognised in profit or 
loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
each component of an item of property, plant, and equipment. 
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease 

term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that 
the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease 
term. Land is not depreciated.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 
asset are:

Class of fixed asset Depreciation rate

Building — strata entitlement 1.33%

Strata and leasehold improvements 20%

Computer systems, furniture and  
office equipment 

10% – 33.33%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(c) Intangible assets

(i)  Website and customer relationship management system 

development costs

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect 
of gaining new technical knowledge and understanding, is 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production 
of new or substantially improved products and processes.

Development expenditure is capitalised only if development 
costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is 
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits 
are probable, and the Company intends to and has sufficient 
resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset.  
The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, 
direct labour and overhead costs that are directly attributable 
to preparing the asset for its intended use, and capitalised 
borrowing costs. Other development expenditure is recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

(ii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases 
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 
which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on 
internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred.

(iii) Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis in profit 
or loss over their estimated useful lives, from the date that they 
are available for use. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

• Capitalised website development costs — 5 years

•  Capitalised customer relationship management system — 
10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

(d) Income tax

Governance Institute of Australia Ltd is for income tax purposes 
endorsed as a charitable institution. Its income is therefore 
exempt from Income Tax under Subdivision 50-B of the Income 
Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(e) Leases

At the commencement date of a lease (other than leases of 
12-months or less and leases of low value assets), the group 
recognises a lease asset representing its right to use the 
underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation 
to make lease payments.

Lease assets 
Lease assets are initially recognised at cost, comprising the 
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date of 
the lease, less any lease incentives received, any initial direct 
costs incurred by the Company, and an estimate of costs to 
be incurred by the Company in dismantling and removing the 
underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or 
restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by 
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are 
incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequent to initial recognition, lease assets are measured at 
cost (adjusted for any remeasurement of the associated lease 
liability), less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment loss.

Lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 
and the estimated useful life of the underlying asset, consistent 
with the estimated consumption of the economic benefits 
embodied in the underlying asset.

Lease liabilities 
Lease liabilities are initially recognised at the present value of 
the future lease payments (i.e., the lease payments that are 
unpaid at the commencement date of the lease). These lease 
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease, if that rate can be readily determined, or otherwise using 
the Company’s incremental borrowing rate.

Subsequent to initial recognition, lease liabilities are measured 
at the present value of the remaining lease payments (i.e., the 
lease payments that are unpaid at the reporting date). Interest 
expense on lease liabilities is recognised in profit or loss 
(presented as a component of finance costs). Lease liabilities 
are remeasured to reflect changes to lease terms, changes to 
lease payments and any lease modifications not accounted for 
as separate leases.

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of 
lease liabilities are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Leases of 12-months or less and leases of low value assets 
Lease payments made in relation to leases of 12-months or 
less and leases of low value assets (for which a lease asset and 
a lease liability has not been recognised) are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(f) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST). Receivables and 
payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office 
is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement 
of financial position. Cash flows in the statement of cash flows 
are included on a gross basis. The GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities that are 
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is 
classified as operating cash flows.

(g) Payroll tax

During 2009, the Company became exempt from the payment 
of payroll tax in NSW under the provisions of Schedule 2 Division  
4 Clause 12(1)(c) of the Payroll Tax Act 2007 (NSW).

The company pays payroll tax in other states and territories 
according to the payroll tax legislations within each jurisdiction.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held 
at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments.

(i) Employee benefits

Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee 
benefits arising from services rendered by employees to 
statement of financial position date. Employee benefits expected 
to be settled within one year of the statement of financial 
position date have been measured at the amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled. Employee benefits 
expected to be settled more than one year from the statement 
of financial position date have been measured at the present 
value of future payments expected to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to statement of financial 
position date. Consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departure and periods 
of service. Expected future payments are discounted to their net 
present value using an estimate of market yields at the statement 
of financial position date on professional markets investments.

(j) Revenue recognition

Revenue represents income earned from membership subscriptions 
and the provision of related services. Membership subscription 
revenue is recognised over time throughout the membership 
period. Revenue from the provision of other services is recognised 
upon the delivery of the service to members/customers. Interest 
revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account 
the interest rates applicable to the financial assets. All revenue 
is stated net of the amount of GST.
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(k) Impairment 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit 
losses (ECL) on financial assets measured at amortised cost.

The Company measures loss allowances for cash at bank 
balances as 12-month ECL as credit risk (i.e., the risk of default 
occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset 
has increased significantly since initial recognition and when 
estimating ECL, the Company considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and available without 
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and 
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s 
historical experience and informed credit assessment and 
including forward looking information.

12 month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default 
events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting 
date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is 
less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is 
the maximum contractual period over which the Company is 
exposed to credit risk.  

Measurement of ECLs 
ECLs are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit 
losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls 
(i.e., the difference between the cash flow due to the entity 
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the 
Company expects to receive). 

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial 
asset. 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial 
assets carried at amortised cost are credit impaired. A financial 
asset is ‘credit impaired’ when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset have occurred.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial 
position.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised 
cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

(ii) Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying 
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than investment 
property and inventories) to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
of other assets or cash generating units (CGU). 

The recoverable amount of asset of CGU is the greater of its 
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is 
based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risk 
specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an 
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are 
allocated to the carrying amounts of the assets in the CGU on a 
pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss and been recognised. 

(l) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or 
constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it 
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result, and 
that outflow can be reliably measured.

Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts 
required to settle the obligation at reporting date.

(m) Trusts

The Institute Trust and The Institute No 2 Trust were established 
in 1993 to accept gifts and bequests from Members and others.

In terms of the will of Leonard Chant, following the death of 
the last life tenant, a one-fifth share of the estate had been 
left to the Company to set up a trust to pay scholarships 
tenable overseas for advancement of training in secretarial 
and administrative knowledge to immediate postgraduate 
candidates of the Company’s examination.

The terms of the original were found to be impracticable and 
following approval of a cy pres scheme in the Supreme Court of 
New South Wales, on the 28 October 2011 before Bryson AJ, 
the purposes of the Trust were confirmed to be that: 

The Trustee (Governance Institute of Australia Ltd) holds, uses, 
and applies the trust property to pay scholarships for entry:

(a) i nto the Trustee’s postgraduate courses dealing with 
applied corporate, public sector and/or not-for-profit 
sector governance, and 

(b)  into any other postgraduate course dealing with applied 
corporate, public sector and/or not-for-profit sector 
governance whether in Australia or overseas.

The scholarships are available to any persons with tertiary 
qualifications including, but not limited to, graduates from 
any courses which contain a corporate governance, company 
administration or public sector management component, 
whether that course has been conducted by the Trustee or 
any other government accredited Australian tertiary education 
institution. 

The scholarships would be tenable at the Trustee, government 
accredited overseas institutions, or any other government 
accredited Australian tertiary education institutions offering 
such courses, that the Trustee considers to be appropriate. 

The financial statements of trust funds are not consolidated 
with those of the Company because the Company does not have 
direct control over them but are shown in Note 24.

(n) Comparative figures

Where required by Accounting Standards comparative figures 
have been adjusted to conform to the changes in presentation 
for the current year.

(o) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency of the Company at exchange rates at 
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at 
that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items 
is the difference between amortised cost in the functional 
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective 
interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost 
in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of 
the year.

 (p) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at 
reporting date for goods and services received by the Company 
during the reporting period, which remain unpaid. The balance is 
recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid 
within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

(q) Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents revenue received in advance which 
is not entitled to be recognised in the current period.

(r) Subsidiary companies

During prior years, the Company registered three subsidiary 
companies with ASIC to reserve appropriate names for future 
activities. The companies were dormant and did not commence 
trading.

During the year these subsidiaries were deregistered.

The Directors of the subsidiary companies were John 
Mazengarb, Rachel Rees and Warren Baillie.

(s) Rounding of amounts

The amounts presented in the financial statements have been 
rounded to the nearest dollar.

(t) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if it is highly 
probable their carrying amounts will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. 
Items classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of 
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell.

An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of a 
non-current asset held for sale exceeds its fair value less costs 
to sell and is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Gains are 
recognised in respect of any subsequent increases in fair value 
less costs to sell of non-current assets held for sale, but only 
to the extent of any cumulative impairment losses previously 
recognised.

(u) Government grants 

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable 
certainty that the grant will be received and all grant conditions 
are met. Grants relating to expense items are recognised as 
income over the periods necessary to match the grant to the 
costs they are compensating.
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Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

4. Revenue
a) Operating activities

Revenue from contracts with customers

Member and subscriber fees  3,537,004  3,305,960
Postgraduate courses 1,935,930  1,879,684
Short courses and certificate courses  3,025,290  2,540,542
PD Events (GRMF, updates/seminars & workshops, national events) 989,694  822,045
Sponsorship 375,117  288,142

Total revenue from contracts with customers  9,863,035  8,836,372

Other revenue

Interest  3,984  26,392 

Other revenue  100,334  113,731 

Publications, journal and merchandise  13,166  15,132 

Total other revenue  117,484  155,255 

Total operating revenue  9,980,519  8,991,628

b) Timing of revenue recognition

Services transferred at a point in time  3,300,741  2,989,870 

Services transferred over time  6,562,294  5,846,502 

Total timing of revenue recognition  9,863,035  8,836,372 

c) Other income

Government and state subsidy*  -  1,388,900 

Strata refunds  231,166  - 

Total other income  231,166  1,388,900 

* Payment and credit received from ATO JobKeeper and cashflow boost and Western Australia state support

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

5. (Deficit)/Surplus from ordinary activities
(Deficit)/Surplus from ordinary activities is stated before income tax 
expense has been determined, after charging:

a) Depreciation expense

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets

Building  16,858  16,865 
Plant and equipment  48,296  183,275 
Intangible assets  165,970  257,124 

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  231,124  457,264 

Depreciation — Right-of-use assets  362,835  438,088 

Total depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  593,959  895,352 

b) Other expenses

Personnel  5,419,867  5,242,522 

Superannuation contributions  456,753  440,321 

Profile expenses  613,929  622,354 

Member activities, conference, short courses and post-graduate education  1,030,494  985,970 

IT licenses      223,074  250,778 

Repairs and maintenance  341,452  122,432 

Interest  79,065  98,768 

CGI, UK — capitation fee  81,501  92,325 

Rental expenses — short term leases and low value assets  37,432  58,454 

Occupancy and state facilities  46,721  192,649 

Auditor's remuneration

Audit fees  35,700  42,848 

Other assurance services  7,500  1,400 

Impairment loss  998,324  173,332 

Other expenses from ordinary activities  446,421  342,344 

Total other expenses  9,818,233  8,666,496 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

6. Reserves
Capital surplus reserve  745,933  745,933 
Works of art revaluation reserve  17,100  17,100 

Total reserves  763,033  763,033 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

7. Accumulated surplus
Accumulated surplus at beginning of the year  5,087,230  4,268,551 
(Deficit)/surplus for the year  (200,507)  818,679 

Accumulated surplus at the end of the year   4,886,723  5,087,230 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

8. Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel  1,299,296  1,360,437 
Independent Chair*  17,500  - 

Total key management personnel  1,316,796  1,360,437 

No other directors received any remuneration during the year, except as set out in Note 20 (ii). 
*The Independent Chair was appointed on 26 July 2021.
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Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

9. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand  
Cash at bank  3,652,110  2,660,230 

Cash on deposit  1,297,189  1,297,171 

Term deposits  1,417,815  1,414,795 

Total cash and cash equivalents  6,367,114  5,372,196 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

10. Trade and other receivables
Current  
Trade debtors  120,652  219,857 

Net GST receivable  22,358  19,056 

Total trade and other receivables  143,010  238,913 

Trade receivables are non interest bearing and are generally due for payment within 30 days of the invoice date. There is no 
impairment or significant credit risk with any debtor balance.

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

11. Other assets
Current  
Prepayments  227,959  258,609 

Prepaid CGI capitation fee  20,474  39,788 

Total other assets  248,433  298,397 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

13. Property plant and equipment
Non-current

Building  - 3,100,000

Leasehold improvements  571,070  571,070 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortisation  (571,070)  (844,698)

 -  2,826,372 

Computer system, furniture and office equipment at cost  1,172,667  1,862,525 

Less: accumulated depreciation and impairment loss  (1,051,465)  (1,705,236)

 121,202  157,289 

Works of art at valuation  22,100  22,100 

Total property, plant and equipment  143,302  3,005,761 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between  
the beginning and the end of the current financial year.

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

12. Asset held for sale
Building held for sale 2,809,514 -

As a part of the expansion of the Sydney Metro West, the building at Level 10, 5 Hunter St Sydney is under compulsory acquisition 
and the Company expects to dispose of its building within the next 12-months. The directors expect that the sale proceeds, less any 
cost of disposal, will exceed the carrying amount of the building.

Depreciation expense of $16,858 was recorded during the year prior to the asset being held for sale.

Property and 
leasehold 

improvements 

Computer systems,  
furniture and office 

equipment  Works of art  Total 
$ $  $ $

Balance at 1 January 2021 2,826,372 157,289 22,100 3,005,761 

Additions  - 12,209  - 12,209 

Depreciation expense (16,858) (48,296)  - (65,154)

Transfer to asset held for sale (2,809,514)  -  -  (2,809,514)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021  - 121,202 22,100 143,302

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

14. Intangible assets
Website development costs

Balance at the beginning of the year  -  1,092,631 

Less: accumulated amortisation and impairment loss  -  (1,092,631)

Balance at end of year  -  - 

Customer relationship management system

Balance at beginning of year  1,929,380  1,883,433 

Additions  47,173  45,947 

Total cost basis 1,976,553 1,929,380

Impairment during the year  (998,324)  - 

Less: accumulated amortisation  (909,194)  (748,956)

Balance at end of year  69,035  1,180,424 

New Courses

Balance at beginning of year  87,072  45,947 

Additions  7,443  41,125 

Total cost basis 94,515 87,072

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortisation  (51,679)  (45,947)

Balance at end of year  42,836  41,125 

Total intangible assets  111,871  1,221,549 

Website development costs 
The website was impaired as at the end of 2020 as there was no further expected economic benefits from its use or disposal. The 
impairment expense related to the asset was recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

A scoping project for a new website development commenced late 2021.

Customer relationship management system 
During 2021 the company implemented a new customer relationship management system and the previous system was impaired as 
it was no longer in use as at 31 December 2021. Loss arising on derecognition of the asset is recognised in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

Customer relationship 
management project New courses  Total 

$ $ $

Balance at 1 January 2021  1,180,424  41,125 1,221,549 

Additions (net of disposals)  47,173  7,443 54,616 

Amortisation & impairment expense  (1,158,562)  (5,732) (1,164,294)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 69,035 42,836 111,871 
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15. Right-of-use assets
GIA leases its office premises and IT equipment. Information about the leases is presented below:

Office Premises 
$

IT Equipment 
$

Total

Balance at 1 January 2021  1,254,263 174,674 1,428,937 

Additions  - 78,303 78,303 

Disposals  - (73,572) (73,572)

Depreciation expenses for the year  (284,172)  (78,663)  (362,835)

Balance at 31 December 2021 970,091 100,742 1,070,833 

The Company has leases for office premises in Victoria and Queensland that expire between 2022 to 2029. In accordance with individual 
lease contracts, the Company must maintain these properties in a good state of repair and return the properties in their original condition 
at the end of the lease. The Company has leases for IT equipment that expire between 2023 and 2026.

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

16. Trade and other payables
Current  
Trade creditors and accruals  488,148  453,842 
Payroll and PAYG tax payable  24,875  48,252 

Fringe benefits tax payable  926  8,585 

Melbourne premises new lease abatement  16,178  30,178 

Total Trade and other payables  530,127  540,857 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

17. Deferred revenue
Subscriptions and fees received in advance  2,939,431  3,078,951 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

18. Provisions
a) Current

Provision for employee short-term entitlements  436,267  400,768 

Provision for long service leave  105,732  85,218 

Total current provisions  541,999  485,986 

b) Non-current

Provision for long service leave  27,535  48,208 

Total Non-current provisions  27,535  48,208 

Average number of full-time equivalent employees  42.95  46.60 

FTE is lower than the previous period, due to a number of vacancies occurring at the end of 2021. These roles have been recruited 
in early 2022.

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

19. Lease liabilities
a) Maturity analysis — contractual undiscounted cash flows

Less than one year  280,870  429,960 

One to five years  708,734  995,347 

more than five years  459,836  639,533 

Balance at 31 December 2021  1,449,440  2,064,840 

b)  Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position as at  
31 December 2021

Current  202,038  436,231 

Non-current  1,003,191  1,125,257 

Balance at 31 December 2021  1,205,229  1,561,488 

20. Related party and subsidiary company disclosures
Transactions with related parties 
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions unless otherwise stated.

(i)  The Chartered Governance Institute (CGI), United Kingdom: under the terms of an operating agreement with CGI, Governance 
Institute of Australia Ltd remits an administration fee based on the number of Australian Members and students registered with CGI 
as at 30 June each year to meet the expenses of the International Institute. These payments amounted to $81,501 (2020: $92,325).

(ii) The following fees and honorariums were paid to directors during the year for course presentations:

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

Caron Sugars  300  - 

Christine Manuel  700  - 

Greg Hanigan  600  - 

Tim Timchur  900  600 

Rachel Rees  1,500  - 

 4,000  600 

21. Segment reporting
Governance Institute of Australia Ltd operates as a professional association providing education and promotion of the advancement 
of effective governance and administration of organisations in the private and public sectors, for Members and applicants for 
membership and for the public. These operations are in Australia and the revenue from operations is as disclosed per Note 4. The 
Company is one reportable segment.
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Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

22. Cash and cash equivalents flow information
a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in 
the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows.

Cash on hand

Cash at bank  3,652,110  2,660,230 

Cash on deposit  1,297,189  1,297,171 

Term deposits  1,417,815  1,414,795 

Total reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents  6,367,114  5,372,196 

b) Non cash investing and finance activities

Non cash investing and finance activities includes the capitalisation of a 
right of use asset and lease liability under AASB 16 Leases for $78,303 
offset by a disposal of $73,572 (2020: $nil).

c)  Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with (deficit)/surplus after 
income tax

Net (deficit)/surplus from ordinary activities after income tax   (200,507)  818,679 

Non-cash flows in (deficit)/surplus from ordinary activities

Depreciation and amortisation  593,959  895,352 

Impairment  998,324  173,332 

Interest for lease liabilities  79,065  98,768 

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  95,903  (182,236)

Decrease in other current assets  49,964  29,161 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (10,730)  64,572 

(Decrease)/increase in deferred revenue  (139,520)  203,682 

(Decrease)/increase in provisions  35,340  62,632 

Net cash provided by operating activities   1,501,798  2,163,942 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

24. Trust funds
Statement of Financial Position

Estate Late Leonard Chant  968,968  968,015 

The Institute Trusts  76,961  76,961 

 1,045,929  1,044,976 

Represented by

Current assets

Cash at bank and on deposit and trade and other receivables  1,045,929  1,044,976 

Other current assets  821  763 

Total current assets  1,046,750  1,045,739 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  1,582  1,582 

Total current liabilities  1,582  1,582 

Net trust Funds  1,045,168  1,044,157 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Income

Interest — Bequest from Estate Late Leonard Chant  7,409  8,695 

Interest — other trust funds  -  3 

 7,409  8,698 

Expenditure

Administration cost  -  (1,698)

Bank fees and charges  (120)  (121)

Scholarships  (6,278)  (9,160)

Used trust funds  1,011  (2,281)

Opening balance  1,044,157  1,046,438 

Trust funds balance at end of year  1,045,168  1,044,157 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

23. Remuneration of auditors
Pitcher Partners Sydney

Assurance services

Audit of the financial report  37,500  - 

Non-assurance services

Assistance with the compilation of the Financial Report  5,000 -

Additional guidance in adopting AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial 
Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit  
Tier 2 Entities.

2,500 -

 7,500 -

 45,000 -

KPMG Sydney

Audit of the financial report  -  42,848 

25. Impact of COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted Governance Institute of Australia operations. Due to government restrictions during 2021 
Governance Institute of Australia cancelled the majority of face-to-face education, events and conferences and converted them to 
digital offering. The pandemic has significantly impacted global economies, resulting in workforce and travel restrictions, supply chain 
and production disruptions and reduced demand and spending across many sectors. In the opinion of the Directors, whilst the risks 
associated with COVID-19 have been largely mitigated, these risks and the required mitigating actions will continue to be vigilantly 
monitored and evaluated by management. 

26. Events subsequent to reporting date
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years.

27. Contingent liabilities
The Company has bank guarantees for the amount of $150,136 (2020: $150,136). There are no other contingent liabilities as at  
31 December 2021.
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In the opinion of the Directors of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd (‘the Company’):

(a)  the financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 31 to 45 are in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-
for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2021 and of its performance, for the financial 
year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013; 
and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due  
and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Directors’ declaration

Pauline Vamos FGIA FCG 
Chair of Governance Institute 
of Australia Ltd and of the 
Australian Division of The 
Chartered Governance Institute

Rachel Rees FGIA FCG 
Director and Chair of 
Risk, Audit and Finance 
Committee

SYDNEY, 12 April 2022
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Independent Auditorʼs Report 
To The Members of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd 
ABN: 49 008 615 950 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd 
(“the Company”), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of changes in 
member funds, statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directorsʼ 
declaration.  

In our opinion the financial report of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd has been prepared in 
accordance with Division 60 the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012,
including:  

(a) Giving a true and fair view of the Companyʼs financial position as at 31 December 2021 
and of its financial performance for the year then ended; and  

(b)  Complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and Division 
60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditorʼs Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional 
and Ethical Standards Boardʼs APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including Independence Standards) (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  

Other Information  

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Companyʼs annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021 but 
does not include the financial report and our auditorʼs report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.  
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Independent Auditorʼs Report 
To The Members of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd 
ABN: 49 008 615 950 
 
 

 
 Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms. 

ABN 17 795 780 962. 
An independent New South Wales Partnership. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the ACNC Act, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Companyʼs 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Companyʼs financial 
reporting process.  

Auditorʼs Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole 
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditorʼs 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companyʼs internal control; 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors; 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Companyʼs 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditorʼs report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditorʼs report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern; 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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Independent Auditorʼs Report 
To The Members of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd 
ABN: 49 008 615 950 
 
 

 
 Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms. 

ABN 17 795 780 962. 
An independent New South Wales Partnership. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

S S Wallace       Pitcher Partners
Partner        Sydney

12 April 2022 

 

49 



Page 50 Governance Institute of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2021  |   Page 51

Financial reportFinancial report

Level 16, Tower 2 Darling Park 
201 Sussex Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

Postal Address 
GPO Box 1615 
Sydney NSW 2001 

p. +61 2 9221 2099 
e. sydneypartners@pitcher.com.au

Adelaide    Brisbane    Melbourne    Newcastle    Perth    Sydney 

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms. 
An independent New South Wales Partnership. ABN 17 795 780 962. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional 
Standards Legislation. Pitcher Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members of which 
are separate and independent legal entities. pitcher.com.au 

50

 
 
 
 
 
 
Auditorʼs Independence Declaration 
To The Directors of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd 
ABN 49 008 615 950 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2021 there have been: 

(i) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; 
and 

(ii) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct. 

This declaration is in respect of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd during the year. 

S S Wallace   
Partner 

Pitcher Partners 
Sydney 

12 April 2022



Governance Institute of Australia Ltd 

Registered office

National office 
Level 10, 5 Hunter Street, 
Sydney NSW 2000 
T (02) 9223 5744 
E info@governanceinstitute.com.au 
W governanceinstitute.com.au 
ACN: 008 615 950 
ABN: 49 008 615 950

State offices

New South Wales & ACT 
Level 10, 5 Hunter Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
T (02) 9223 5744

Queensland 
Level 8, 100 Creek Street 
Brisbane QLD 4000 
T (07) 3229 6879

South Australia, Northern Territory & Tasmania 
PO Box 6178 
Linden Park SA 5065 
T (08) 8379 6771

Victoria 
Level 7, 500 Collins Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 
T (03) 9620 2488

Western Australia 
T (08) 9321 8777
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